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MICKLEHAM PAST AND PRESENT: SIR JAMES JEANS and LADY SUSI JEANS 

Over the years many people renowned in various walks of life have lived within the confines of the present parish of Mickleham.  Some will be remembered by people living here today, while others about whom I hope to write in due course are part of national as well as local history.  Sir James and Lady Jeans, the subjects of this monogram, have very special significance not only because of their achievements but also on account of their home, Cleveland Lodge, which was acquired by Sir James in 1918, when Susi was still a little girl.  It remained their home right up to her death last month, with the exception of a period during the Second World War when it was requisitioned by the army and the Jeans family moved for a time to Somerset.  It is known to many Surrey residents as the venue for a festival devoted to early music, an annual event for some thirty years. 

Sir James, mathematician and theoretical physicist, was born in Southport in 1877, educated at Merchant Taylors’ School and Trinity College, Cambridge where in 1898 he was bracketed second wrangler.  He was elected a fellow of his college and from then until 1928 was deeply involved in mathematical and astronomical research.  He received many honours, becoming Professor of Applied Mathematics at Princeton, Fellow of the Royal Society in 1906 and of the Royal Astronomical Society three years later; he was honorary secretary of this august body from 1919 to 1929 and its president from 1925 until 1927.  From 1935 until 1946 he held the chair of astronomy at the Royal Institution.  Sir James was knighted in 1928, received the Order of Merit in 1939 and at a later date the freedom of the Merchant Taylors and so of the City of London.  In scientific circles, where he worked for a time with Lord Rutherford, he was known and respected for his work on stellar structure, a subject which involved him in scientific controversy with Sir Arthur Eddington.  He is, however, probably best remembered by the world at large as a populariser of science. 

Three books, Astronomy and Cosmology (1928), The Universe around Us (1929) and The Mysterious Universe (1930) (in which he asserted that God is a pure mathematician) brought both popular acclaim and acknowledgement of his talents. 

The association of music and mathematics is an accepted one, to which Sir James’s dual commitment is no exception;  in fact, in his youth, after a childhood interest in clocks, he had considered music as a career, but in the event music, while not taking second place, became a leisure activity.  His professionalism in this field was recognised in 1937 when he was appointed a director of the Royal Academy of Music.  He had an organ built in Cleveland Lodge and spent many hours playing to himself, being particularly fond of Bach.  He was an intensely shy and private man and would never play before other people.  This very shyness kept him aloof from the social life of the village and it was with the greatest reluctance that he allowed Philip de László to paint the portrait which hung for many years in Cleveland Lodge.  It was left to Susi to let the village know that Cleveland Lodge was indeed a home of music and warm friendship. 

In 1935 Sir James heard Susi play at New College, Oxford.  Very soon afterwards, according to a story, she was asked to play at what she understood to be a church called St James Jeans.  It turned out to be the house in the country that was to be her home for close on sixty years.  Among the wedding presents that Sir James gave his young bride was the first two-manual neo-baroque organ to be seen in England and he devised a special system of sound insulation in Cleveland Lodge so that they could practice at the same time without one of them disturbing the other.  In 1937 Science and Music was published and charmingly dedicated to Susi.  The Jeans marriage was an exceedingly happy one but lasted, alas, only eleven years, during which time their three children were born.  Their careers reflect the intellectual and musical gifts of both their parents. 

Susi’s musical training had begun in her birthplace, Vienna, and later she was taught in Paris and Leipzig.  Subsequently her work took her all over England, to Europe and also to North America and Australia.  The first to play the organ at the Festival Hall, she has been aptly described as First Lady of the Organ but she was also harpsichordist, clavichordist, player of the virginals and an academic musicologist. 

However, it is as an organist that she will be best remembered and for introducing early English keyboard music to a far wider audience than it had hitherto enjoyed.  By the time of her death there were no fewer than six organs in Cleveland Lodge.  It was her wish that the house and some of the keyboard instruments should be taken over by the Royal School of Church Music. 

Although in failing health and overwhelmed by papers and household worries in her last years, Susi had only to seat herself at the organ for all mundane cares to drop away, and for her entire person, both mental and physical, to be lifted into the sphere of music.  To watch this transformation was an unforgettable and uplifting experience. 

Betty Ellman
